Regenerative Therapy 26 (2024) 275-280

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Regenerative Therapy

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/reth

Revolutionizing renal research: The future of kidney-on-a-chip in biotechnology

Yusuke Nishimura¹

Department of Clinical Engineering, Faculty of Medical Science and Technology, Gunma Paz University, 3-3-4 Tonyamachi, Takasaki-shi, Gunma, 370-0006, Japan

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 13 March 2024 Received in revised form 30 May 2024 Accepted 9 June 2024

Keywords: Organ-on-a-chip Renal tubule Glomerulus Microfluidic device Shear stress

ABSTRACT

In vitro models of kidneys have limited effectiveness owing to the complex structure and functions of the kidney when compared with other organs. Therefore many renal function evaluations are currently being carried out through animal experiments. In contrast, efforts are being made to apply biomimetic systems, such as organ-on-a-chip, which is based on microfluidic device technology, to serve as an in vitro model for the kidney. These systems aimed to recreate a physiological cultivation environment. This review has provided an overview of organ-on-a-chip research focused on glomeruli and tubules as in vitro models for the kidney and discusses future prospects.

© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier BV on behalf of The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	275
2.	Cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) as the cell source	276
3.	Materials used for organ-on-a-chip	276
4.	Organ-on-a-chip technology	276
5.	Kidney-on-a-chip using microfluidic devices	276
	5.1. Glomerulus-on-a-chip	. 276
	5.2. Renal tubule-on-a-chip	. 277
6.	Conclusions and future perspectives	279
	Ethics approval and consent to participate	279
	Consent for publication	279
	Disclosure statement	279
	Declaration of competing interest	. 279
	References	. 279

1. Introduction

The kidney is an organ closely interconnected with blood vessels. It receives approximately 20% of the blood pumped by the heart, it filters waste products and toxins from the blood, and responsible for blood filtration, consists of a complex network of capillaries that filters approximately 180 L of blood daily to produce urine [1]. The kidney is an organ targeted for safety assessments and pharmacokinetic evaluations, including metabolism and excretion, during drug development. The accurate prediction of the nephrotoxicity of potential new drugs during the experimental phase would enable cost-effective and low-nephrotoxicity drug development. Additionally, disease models contribute to the understanding of the mechanisms underlying renal disorders and serve as an effective means for developing new therapeutic

returns purified blood to the body. The glomerulus, which is



Review





E-mail address: nishimura@paz.ac.jp.

Peer review under responsibility of the Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine.

¹ Tel.: +81 27 329 6887.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2024.06.006

^{2352-3204/© 2024} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier BV on behalf of The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

approaches. While in vitro experiments, such as those using kidney organoids or Transwell methods, exist [2-4], their ability to faithfully replicate renal functions or potential issues such as functional inactivity currently pose concerns. Therefore, in the drug development process, the current practice involves evaluating safety and pharmacokinetic functions through animal experiments. Organon-a-chip technology is a novel approach to overcome the current limitations of animal and cell culture experiments. This method utilizes microfluidic devices to enable cell adhesion and cultivation, allowing for the construction of physiologically relevant in vitro organ models. Various organs and tissues, including the brain, heart, intestines, and liver, have been studied using organon-a-chip technology [5-8]. The kidneys have also become targets for development in this field. In kidney-on-a-chip technology, miniature kidney models are used to investigate kidney function and pathology [9]. Conversely, organ-on-a-chip technology replicates not only the kidney but also other organs, typically integrating multiple different cell types to mimic organ interactions and the body's internal environment [10]. Both methodologies fall under the purview of Microphysiological Systems (MPS), which strive to emulate the physiological functions of the human body [11]. Focusing on the "glomerulus/renal tubule-on-a-chip" can be advantageous for researching kidney diseases and function. Each approach has its own set of advantages and disadvantages. While kidney chip technology is adept at studying a single organ in isolation, organ-on-a-chip technology takes into account the interactions present among multiple organs. Moreover, the presence or absence of microfluidic systems affects the cellular environment and its interactions. Both approaches have the ability to play a significant role in advancing kidney research and therapy development, but selecting an appropriate approach requires careful consideration of their respective advantages and disadvantages. This review provides an overview of organ-on-a-chip methodologies applied to create in vitro models of glomeruli and tubules in the kidney and discusses future prospects.

2. Cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) as the cell source

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have garnered particular attention as a source of kidney cells [12]. iPSC-derived kidney organoids exhibit a complex 3D structure and encompass all cell lineages of the kidney, thus displaying properties similar to in vivo conditions. Consequently, cells derived from kidney organoids are more realistic cellular models for use in devices than traditional primary cells or immortalized cell lines.

For instance, one study reported the development and characterization of a 3D organoid-derived proximal tubule on-chip model using epithelial cells obtained from mature kidney organoids under static conditions. This perfusable organoid-derived proximal tubule epithelial cells tubule model, based on iPSC-derived cells, allows for a more sensitive prediction of renal toxicity than conventional models based on immortalized proximal tubular epithelial cells [13]. Furthermore, efficient differentiation of human iPSCs into podocytes and co-cultivation with human glomerular endothelial cells in an organ-on-a-chip microfluidic device were designed to mimic pulsatile blood flow in live glomeruli and apply mechanical strain by having parallel hollow channels. Under fluid flow and mechanical strain, podocytes extend protrusions towards endothelial cells through pores in the membrane. This co-culture exhibited selective filtration by retaining albumin in the capillary compartment, while excreting inulin into the urine compartment [14]. These studies highlight the crucial role of iPSC-derived kidney cells in the construction of kidney models within the devices. Advancements in iPSC technology are expected to provide more physiologically relevant kidney cells, thereby improving the accuracy of kidney disease models and advancing research on drug screening and regenerative medicine.

3. Materials used for organ-on-a-chip

Devices designed to mimic microenvironments specific to organs are crafted from various materials such as glass, polysulfone (PS), polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA), polyethylene terephthalate (PET) [15]. Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) has been chosen for its advantages, such as softness, transparency, biocompatibility, gas permeability, ease of replication, and low autofluorescence [16]. PDMS has various advantages; however, its absorption of hydrophobic compounds can be a limitation in drug testing. Therefore, thermoplastic materials such as polystyrene and polycarbonate are preferred microfluidic materials [17]. The development of microfluidic devices has enabled researchers to better understand and simulate the biological interactions in microenvironments.

4. Organ-on-a-chip technology

This advanced technology has been shown to provide an innovative approach for mimicking human organs and tissues by controlling the flow of minute fluids. Microfluidic devices enable interactions between cells and biomolecules in tiny spaces, allowing the precise replication of complex environments within the human body. When focusing on the kidney in particular, these devices emulate physiological functions such as glomeruli and tubules, making them an ideal platform for reproducing pathophysiological states. Microfluidic devices are constructed on the microscopic scale to allow cells and biomolecules to interact in small spaces. This enables the reproduction of cellular interactions and responses, both among cells and between cells and their environment, under conditions that closely resemble the in vivo environment [18,19]. Furthermore, these devices can control fluid flow, enabling the reproduction of fluidic dynamic factors, such as blood and lymph flow and shear stress, which cells in organs and tissues experience. Because cells in organs and tissues function when exposed to these factors, realistic reproduction of fluidic dynamics is indispensable in regard to physiological experiments [20]. Organ-on-a-chip (OoC) is not only utilized as a platform for the efficient and safe evaluation of the effects and side effects of new drugs, but also for focused research on specific organs or tissues in order to understand the mechanisms and progression of diseases [21-23]. OoC mimics in vivo reactions more realistically, thus providing more reliable results than animal experiments or in vitro models [24,25]. Particularly, OoC models that focus on specific organs or tissues are valuable for understanding disease mechanisms and progression. This is expected to mimic the progression of diseases and the effects of treatments more accurately. By replicating subtle changes within the body and the impact of drugs, the OoC technology has the potential to contribute to the development of more effective treatment methods [26,27]. As a result, OoC technology has garnered attention as an innovative means of enabling research and evaluation that is challenging using conventional methods in the fields of life sciences and medicine.

5. Kidney-on-a-chip using microfluidic devices

5.1. Glomerulus-on-a-chip

In vitro models of drug-induced renal toxicity are essential for effective pharmaceutical development. Kidney organoids mimic certain functions of the human kidney [28], like nephron-like structures, but lack full filtration capabilities and normal glomerular basement membrane formation. Additionally, genetically modified cell lines and complex induction protocols are often used, which potentially affect their morphology and function [29]. Despite there being some success in the past in regard to recreating kidney structures using traditional 2D or 3D culture systems including spheroids and extracellular gels, the results have been inconsistent. Therefore, there is growing emphasis on developing organ-on-a-chip models of glomeruli and tubules based on cell lines to assess drug transport and renal toxicity [14,30]. The glomerular chips developed thus far face challenges in achieving a functional filtration barrier with crucial selective permeability [31]. This difficulty arises from the sensitivity of podocytes to shear stress, which leads to a high likelihood of functional loss during cultivation [32-34]. Recently, Petrosyan et al. developed a glomerulus-on-a-chip (GoC) comprising human podocytes and glomerular endothelial cells seeded on an organoplate [35]. A distinctive feature of this system is the absence of an artificial membrane between the two layers, which allows glomerular cells to form an ECM layer of extracellular matrix composed of collagen IV and laminin. The glomerular filtration barrier (GFB)-like structure of this system reproduces the functions of the GFB, including selective permeability and responsiveness to nephrotoxic compounds. Furthermore, addition of puromycin aminonucleoside, a nephrotoxic substance that induces focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, to GoC-induced podocyte damage replicates the appearance of albuminuria. Therefore, this system mimics the functionality and injury expression of the actual renal GFB. Using this platform, it is possible to study the changes in the threedimensional structure of podocytes, endothelial cells, GBM, abnormal functionality, and intercellular crosstalk.

Another group managed to successfully replicate the podocyte damage caused by glomerular hypertension and excessive filtration using a glomerulus-on-a-chip. Filtration stimuli promote podocyte maturation in terms of morphology and gene expression [36]. However, the cells used in this study were immortalized mouse podocytes. GoC research is fundamentally aimed at human drug discovery and disease modeling, emphasizing the need for future investigations using human podocytes. In this study, GoCs were used in order to mimic podocyte damage due to glomerular hypertension and excessive filtration, revealing that filtration stimuli enhanced podocyte maturation in terms of both the morphology and gene expression. Nevertheless, the cells used were mouse podocytes, emphasizing the necessity to reassess this study using human podocytes.

Advancements in research suggest that the GoC has the potential to be a superior model for replicating human physiological conditions and disease states. Future studies using human podocytes are expected to provide deeper insight into glomerular hypertension and other pathophysiological conditions, thereby contributing to the development of more effective treatment strategies and efficient drug discovery. The glomerulus-on-a-chip used in this study is listed in Table 1.

5.2. Renal tubule-on-a-chip

In the nephron, the smallest functional unit of the kidney, the tubules present play a significant role in drug metabolism, as they reabsorb essential substances from primary urine into the body. Membrane proteins present in the epithelial cells of the renal tubules are involved in drug metabolism, making this tissue crucial for drug kinetics. Cells of the renal tubules have cilia and function as sensory organs. Primary urine flow induces shear stress, causing the cilia to bend. This bending is sensed by polycystin-1, which triggers the influx of Ca2+ through polycystin-2. The influx of Ca2+ is enhanced by the release of intracellular Ca2+, which activates signaling pathways to maintain renal function [37]. Efforts to reproduce the function of renal tubules in vitro have shown that renal proximal tubular epithelial cells can become vulnerable to drug-induced toxicity when there is an imbalance between inflow and outflow [38,39]. Therefore, the organ-on-a-chip models proposed to replicate renal tubular function aim to recreate a physiological culture environment by perfusing the medium through channels. Various types of flow configurations exist for the organon-a-chip models proposed as renal tubule models (Fig. 1). This approach is expected to enhance and also maintain the functionality of cultured cells, thereby contributing to the development of improved renal tubule models for drug-induced toxicity studies. Cultivating renal tubular cells in a monolayer microfluidic device and subjecting the cilia present in these cells to shear stress has been shown to result in cilia elongation [40]. Additionally, the use of microfluidic devices to evaluate shear stress on ureteric bud (UB) cells suggests its potential contribution to kidney development and function in kidney development [41]. In another study, tubularderived cells and vascular endothelial cells were cultured on a porous membrane, and shear stress-induced tubular polarity was applied [42]. Furthermore, the administration of hormones to the vascular side of the device revealed changes in the osmolarity and electrolytes in the flow path of the tubular side. Although not fully replicating all of the physiological functions of renal tubules, these previous studies suggested a partial reproduction of their physiological functions. Weber et al. In their study maintained a high survival rate of human renal tubular cells by seeding them into the

Table 1

Summary of glomerulus-on-a-chip research report.

	•		
Cell types	Objectives	Findfings	References
Human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs)	Developing a functional microfluidic device that mimics the molecular filtration characteristics of the glomerular capillary wall.	This device can replicate drug-induced podocyte injury and proteinuria in vitro.	[14]
Mice glomerular endothelial cells (GEnCs) and mice podocytes (MPC-5)	Developing a multifunctional glomerulus-on-a-chip (GoC) to achieve glomerular filtration function.	The developed GoC can faithfully replicate the fundamental physiological structure and function of the glomerulus, and it can also be further developed as a modelfor hypertensive nephropathy.	[32]
Human origin: amniotic fluid-derived podocytes (hAKPC-P), immortalized podocytes (hiPOD) and primary podocytes (hpPOD)	Development of a groundbreaking system that mimics the human renal filtration barrier.	The developed chip serves as an ideal tool for studying the mechanisms of glomerular diseases and drug screening in the field.	[35]
Heat-sensitive mouse podocytes (HSMPs)	Development of a Glomerulus-Mimicking Filtration Fluidic Device (FFD) that precisely controls vertical filtration flow.	The developed system not only mimics damage to podocytes but also promotes podocyte maturation in terms of morphology and gene expression, while reproducing a drug response different from conventional culture conditions.	[36]



Fig. 1. Representative device structures The flow channel structures used for kidney-on-a-chip can be classified into two types: (A) single-layer microfluidic device, characterized by a simple rectangular flow channel with renal tubular cells cultured on the bottom surface. (B) Two-layer microfluidic device, featuring a porous structure dividing the upper and lower layers. Different cells are cultured on the porous upper and lower surfaces.

lumens and perfusing them in a microfluidic device, confirming that the cell morphology, including tight junctions and brush borders, resembled physiological structures. Therefore, to replicate the physiological structure of renal tubules, active research has been conducted on microfluidic devices that create a three-dimensional luminal structure by forming microchannels in the extracellular matrix (ECM) gel within the flow path, allowing cell adhesion. On the other hand, in co-culture studies, research has extended beyond renal tubular and vascular endothelial cells to include adipocytes. Co-culturing with adipocytes has been reported to stimulate hypertrophy, polarity, and differentiation of renal tubular cells [43]. In one study, co-culturing Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) tubular cells with adipose tissue-derived stem cells encapsulated in a collagen gel using a microfluidic device confirmed cilia formation and the functional expression of ion transport proteins in MDCK cells [44]. Guimaraes et al. reported the coculture of renal proximal tubular epithelial cells (RPTECs) and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) in a polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) microfluidic device created by a combination of 3D printing and molding techniques [45]. The proximal Tubule (PT)-on-a-chip significantly reduced high glucose levels and it also mimicked tubulopathy

induced by amphotericin B, indicating albumin uptake. Notably, RPTEC/HUVEC co-cultures showed efficient cell attachment within 30 min on microchannels functionalized with plasma, 3aminopropyltriethoxysilane, and type I collagen. This approach significantly reduces the incubation time required for perfusion of culture substrates. The PT-on-a-chip is expected to be a valuable tool for assessing the nephrotoxicity of new drug candidates, improving our understanding of drug interactions with co-cultured renal cells, reducing the need for animal testing, and fostering the safe and ethical development of new drugs. In another coculture study, we were able to develop a technique for coculturing organoid-derived cells and immortalized RPTEC on a chip. Using this technique, organoid-derived cells and RPTEC cells were cocultured on a chip, and the transport capacity of SGLT-2 and P-gp according to cell polarity was successfully measured. Stimulation with shear stress by coculture and perfusion culture enhanced the function of both transport proteins. This allows MPS models of the proximal tubular epithelial tissue to perform drug evaluations, including reabsorption and drug excretion, in vitro [46].

Various studies have investigated the impact of shear stress on renal tubular cells, and it has become evident that certain aspects of

Table 2

Cell types	Objectives	Findfings	References
Renal cortical tubule epithelial cells (RCTEC) of distal tubule origin	The development of a device that controls the shear stress on renal tubule cilia while simultaneously monitoring real-time fluctuations in intracellular calcium levels	The developed microfluidic device is useful for morphological analysis of primary cilia under low perfusion conditions	[40]
Ureteric bud cells dissected from E15.5 mouse embryonic kidneys	Influence of fluid shear stress (FSS) on ureteric bud cells	Important correlation between due to urine flow and kidney development and function	[41]
Primary rat inner medullary collecting duct cells (IMCDC)	Developed a multilayer microfluidic device capable of mimicking renal tubule function	The microfluidic device developed is useful for mimicking the tubular system of the renal tubules in the human body	[42]
Madin-Darby canine kidney cells (MDCKC) and adipose-derived stem cells (CG-ASC)	To enhance the functionality of renal tubular cells, a microfluidic co-culture platform has been developed	In the microfluidic device co-cultured with CG- ASC, the promotion of ciliogenesis in MDCK and the functional expression of ion transport proteins were confirmed	[43]
Renal Proximal Tubule Epithelial Cells (RPTEC) and Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVEC)	Development and evaluation of renal proximal tubule-on-chip	RPTEC and HUVEC co-culture demonstrated efficient cell adhesion within 30 min	[44]
RPTEC/Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase (TERT1) cells and HUVEC	Development of a technique for co-culturing organoid-derived cells and immortalized RPTEC within a chip	The morphology of proximal tubule epithelial cells improved with increased microvilli and transporter localization, leading to an increase in the transport of glucose and albumin	[45]



Fig. 2. Organ-on-a-chip is used for various organs Organ-on-a-chip is a system capable of artificially assembling miniature tissues that mimic the functions of various organs on a chip.

renal tubular function that are traditionally challenging to express in conventional culture experiments are achievable. The renal tubule-on-a-chip used in this study is listed in Table 2.

6. Conclusions and future perspectives

OoC technology has made significant strides in the fields of life sciences and medicine; however, several important challenges remain for its practical application. First, the issue of cell source is particularly critical in OoC models for organs such as the kidneys, which require a diverse range of cell types [47]. Human induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC)-derived kidney organoids show promise as cell source [48,49], further research and technological advancements are necessary to ensure their stability and reliability.

Moreover, in terms of cultivation techniques, OoC models do not currently fully reflect the physiological functions and temporal aspects of in vivo environments. Improvements in cultivation techniques are indispensable for more precise replication of functional maintenance under physiological conditions and changes over time. Although the microfluidic device technology has shown promising results so far, further engineering innovations and optimization of cell culture protocols are still required.

In order to overcome these challenges, collaborations between researchers in engineering and researchers in the fields of biology and medicine are crucial. The integration of knowledge and techniques from different disciplines is likely to lead to the realization of more physiological and reliable OoC models, thus facilitating their application in drug development and clinical research. Furthermore, OoC technology, by replicating various human organs on miniature chips, is poised to become an innovative tool in medical research, contributing to the development of new drugs and a deeper understanding of diseases in the future (Fig. 2). This has the potential to garner attention as an alternative to, and reduce, animal experiments, contributing to the development of personalized treatment methods for individual patients.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Disclosure statement

The author reports no potential conflict of interest.

Declaration of competing interest

The author declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- Scott RP, Quaggin SE. The cell biology of renal filtration. J Cell Biol 2015;209(2):199–210.
- [2] Nishimura Y, Wang PC. Possibility of culturing the early developing kidney cells by utilizing simulated microgravity environment. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2021;573:9–12.
- [3] Sun G, Ding B, Wan M, Chen L, Jackson J, Atala A. Formation and optimization of three-dimensional organoids generated from urine-derived stem cells for renal function in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther 2020;11(1):309.
- [4] Piossek F, Beneke S, Schlichenmaier N, Mucic G, Drewitz S, Dietrich DR. Physiological oxygen and co-culture with human fibroblasts facilitate in vivolike properties in human renal proximal tubular epithelial cells. Chem Biol Interact 2022;361:109959.
- [5] Brown JA, Codreanu SG, Shi M, Sherrod SD, Markov DA, et al. Metabolic consequences of inflammatory disruption of the blood-brain barrier in an organ-on-chip model of the human neurovascular unit. J Neuroinflammation 2016;13(1):306.
- [6] Kujala VJ, Pasqualini FS, Goss JA, Nawroth JC, Parker KK. Laminar ventricular myocardium on a microelectrode array-based chip. J Mater Chem B 2016;4(20):3534–43.
- [7] Workman MJ, Gleeson JP, Troisi EJ, Estrada HQ, Kerns SJ, Hinojosa CD, et al. Enhanced utilization of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived human

intestinal organoids using microengineered chips. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;5(4):669-677.e2.

- [8] Wang Y, Wang H, Deng P, Tao T, Liu H, Wu S, et al. Modeling human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) with an organoids-on-a-chip system. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 2020;6(10):5734–43.
- [9] Ashammakhi N, Wesseling-Perry K, Hasan A, Elkhammas E, Zhang YS. Kidneyon-a-chip: untapped opportunities. Kidney Int 2018;94(6):1073-86.
- [10] Nahak BK, Mishra A, Preetam S, Tiwari A. Advances in organ-on-a-chip materials and devices. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2022;5(8):3576-607.
- [11] Rothbauer M, Reihs EI, Fischer A, Windhager R, Jenner F, Toegel S. Share A progress report and roadmap for microphysiological systems and organ-on-Achip technologies to Be more predictive models in human (knee) osteoarthritis. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2022;10:886360.
- [12] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006:126(4): 663-76
- [13] Aceves JO, Heja S, Kobayashi K, Robinson SS, Miyoshi T, Matsumoto T, et al. 3D proximal tubule-on-chip model derived from kidney organoids with improved drug uptake. Sci Rep 2022;12(1):14997.
- [14] Musah S, Mammoto A, Ferrante TC, Jeanty SSF, Hirano-Kobayashi M, Mammoto T, et al. Mature induced-pluripotent-stem-cell-derived human podocytes reconstitute kidney glomerular-capillary-wall function on a chip. Nat Biomed Eng 2017;1:69.
- [15] Bhatia SN, Ingber DE. Microfluidic organs-on-chips. Nat Biotechnol 2014:32(8):760-72.
- [16] Halldorsson S, Lucumi E, Gómez-Sjöberg R, Fleming RMT. Fleming. Advantages and challenges of microfluidic cell culture in polydimethylsiloxane devices. Biosens Bioelectron 2015:63:218-31.
- [17] Nge PN, Rogers CI, Woolley AT. Advances in microfluidic materials: functions, integration, and applications. Chem Rev 2013;113(4):2550-83.
- [18] Huh D, Matthews BD, Mammoto A, Montoya-Zavala M, Hsin HY, Ingber DE. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. Science 2010;328(5986): 1662 - 8
- [19] Kim HJ, Li H, Collins JJ, Ingber DE. Contributions of microbiome and mechanical deformation to intestinal bacterial overgrowth and inflammation in a human gut-on-a-chip. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016;113(1):E7-15.
- [20] Esch EW, Bahinski A, Huh D. Organs-on-chips at the frontiers of drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2015;14(4):248-60.
- [21] Paloschi V, Pauli J, Winski G, Wu Z, Li Z, Botti L, et al. Utilization of an arteryon-a-chip to unravel novel regulators and therapeutic targets in vascular diseases. Adv Healthcare Mater 2024:e2302907.
- [22] Liu H, Wu X, Liu R, Wang W, Zhang D, Jiang Q. Cartilage-on-a-chip with magneto-mechanical transformation for osteoarthritis recruitment. Bioact Mater 2023:33:61-8.
- [23] Palma-Florez S, López-Canosa A, Moralez-Zavala F, Castaño O, Kogan MJ, Samitier J, et al. Mir. BBB-on-a-chip with integrated micro-TEER for permeability evaluation of multi-functionalized gold nanorods against Alzheimer's disease. J Nanobiotechnol 2023;21(1):115.
- [24] Skardal A, Murphy SV, Devarasetty M, Mead I, Kang HW, Seol YJ, et al. Multitissue interactions in an integrated three-tissue organ-on-a-chip platform. Sci Rep 2017;7(1):8837.
- [25] Oleaga C, Bernabini C, Smith AS, Srinivasan B, Jackson M, McLamb W, et al. Multi-organ toxicity demonstration in a functional human in vitro system composed of four organs. Sci Rep 2016;6:20030.
- [26] Zhang YS, Aleman J, Shin SR, Kilic T, Kim D, Mousavi Shaegh SA, et al. Multisensor-integrated organs-on-chips platform for automated and continual in situ monitoring of organoid behaviors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2017;114(12): E2293-302.
- [27] Jang KJ, Otieno MA, Ronxhi J, Lim HK, Ewart L, Kodella KR, et al. Reproducing human and cross-species drug toxicities using a Liver-Chip. Sci Transl Med 2019;11(517):eaax5516.

- [28] Morizane R, Bonventre JV. Kidney organoids: a translational journey. Trends Mol Med 2017;23(3):246-63.
- [29] Shi Y, Inoue H, Wu JC, Yamanaka S. Induced pluripotent stem cell technology: a decade of progress. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2017;16(2):115-30.
- [30] Nieskens TTG, Persson M, Kelly EJ, Sjögren AK. A multicompartment human kidney proximal Tubule-on-a-chip replicates cell polarization-dependent cisplatin toxicity. Drug Metab Dispos 2020;48(12):1303-11.
- [31] Ichimura K, Miyazaki N, Sadayama S, Murata K, Koike M, Nakamura K, et al. Three-dimensional architecture of podocytes revealed by block-face scanning electron microscopy. Sci Rep 2015;5:8993.
- Friedrich C. Endlich N. Kriz W. Endlich K. Podocytes are sensitive to fluid shear [32] stress in vitro. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 2006;291(4):F856-65.
- [33] Zhou M, Zhang X, Wen X, Wu T, Wang W, Yang M, et al. Development of a functional glomerulus at the organ level on a chip to mimic hypertensive nephropathy. Sci Rep 2016;6:31771.
- Nishimura Y. Ishii T. Ando K. Yuge S. Nakajima H. Zhou W. et al. Blood flow [34] regulates glomerular capillary formation in zebrafish pronephros. Kidney 2022:3(4):700-13.
- Petrosyan A, Cravedi P, Villani V, Angeletti A, Manrique J, Renieri A, et al. A [35] glomerulus-on-a-chip to recapitulate the human glomerular filtration barrier. Nat Commun 2019:10(1):3656
- [36] Doi K, Kimura H, Kim SH, Kaneda S, Wada T, Tanaka T, et al. Enhanced podocyte differentiation and changing drug toxicity sensitivity through pressure-controlled mechanical filtration stress on a glomerulus-on-a-chip.
- Lab Chip 2023;23(3):437–50. [37] Deane JA, Ricardo SD. Polycystic kidney disease and the renal cilium. Nephrology 2007;12(6):559-64.
- [38] Nigam SK, Wu W, Bush KT, Hoenig MP, Blantz RC, Bhatnagar V. Handling of drugs, metabolites, and uremic toxins by kidney proximal tubule drug transporters. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2015;10(11):2039–49. Nieskens TTG, Sjögren AK. Emerging in vitro systems to screen and predict
- [39] drug-induced kidney toxicity. Semin Nephrol 2019;39(2):215-26.
- [40] Chikamori M, Kimura H, Inagi R, Zhou J, Nangaku M, Fujii T. Intracellular calcium response of primary cilia of tubular cells to modulated shear stress under oxidative stress. Biomicrofluidics 2020;14(4):044102.
- [41] Kimura H, Nishikawa M, Yanagawa N, Nakamura H, Miyamoto S, Hamon M, et al. Effect of fluid shear stress on in vitro cultured ureteric bud cells. Biomicrofluidics 2018:12(4):044107.
- Jang KJ, Suh KY. A multi-layer microfluidic device for efficient culture and [42] analysis of renal tubular cells. Lab Chip 2010;10(1):36-42.
- [43] Udo K, Aoki S, Uchihashi K, Kawasaki M, Matsunobu A, Tokuda Y, et al. Adipose tissue explants and MDCK cells reciprocally regulate their morphogenesis in coculture. Kidney Int 2010;78(1):60-8.
- [44] Huang HC, Chang YJ, Chen WC, Harn HI, Tang MJ, Wu CC. Enhancement of renal epithelial cell functions through microfluidic-based coculture with adipose-derived stem cells. Tissue Eng 2013;19(17-18):2024-34.
- Guimaraes APP, Calori IR, Stilhano RS, Tedesco AC. Renal proximal tubule-on-[45] a-chip in PDMS: fabrication, functionalization, and RPTEC:HUVEC co-culture evaluation. Biofabrication 2024;16(2).
- [46] Banan Sadeghian R, Ueno R, Takata Y, Kawakami A, Ma C, Araoka T, et al. Cells sorted off hiPSC-derived kidney organoids coupled with immortalized cells reliably model the proximal tubule. Commun Biol 2023;6(1):483.
- Schumacher A, Rookmaaker MB, Joles JA, Kramann R, Nguyen TQ, van [47] Griensven M, et al. Defining the variety of cell types in developing and adult human kidneys by single-cell RNA sequencing. NPJ Regen Med 2021;6(1):45.
- Tran T, Lindström NO, Ransick A, De Sena Brandine G, Guo Q, Kim AD, et al. In [48] vivo developmental trajectories of human podocyte inform in vitro differentiation of pluripotent stem cell-derived podocytes. Dev Cell 2019;50(1): 102-116.e6.
- [49] Phipson B, Er PX, Combes AN, Forbes TA, Howden SE, Zappia L, et al. Evaluation of variability in human kidney organoids. Nat Methods 2019;16(1):79-87.